2001

J. R. Bagnall, aka Joseph R. Bagnall, and Florence Bagnall v. Suburbia Land Company, an Idaho Corporation, et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves an action to forfeit a real estate agreement for alleged failure to make the required installments, and to quiet title to some 570 acres of land in the plaintiffs.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Court denied the defendants' motion for judgment on the verdict, or, in the alternative, for a new trial, and granted judgment in favor of the plaintiffs, and against the defendants forfeiting the real estate agreement and quieting title in the plaintiffs, except for an undivided $\frac{1}{2}$ interest in 140.15 acres, which the court, by Summary Judgment and Decree of Quiet Title, awarded to United Paint and Colors. Plaintiffs' appeal from the order is also pending before this honorable court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants (defendants) seek reversal of the Judgment of forfeiture and seek to have judgment entered in their favor dismissing the complaint of the plaintiff and reinstating the contract. Defendants further seek to have the matter remanded back to the District Court for a determination of damages, adjustments and offsets due defendants from the plaintiffs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 1, 1952, a real estate agreement was entered into between Hannah Bagnall and J. R. Bagnall, as sellers, and Wallace J. Nyberg, Jean B. Nyberg, and Glenna A. Nyberg, as buyers. The agreement appears to have been part of an overall settlement of the estate of Hannah Bagnall, with the apparent motive being to divide up the estate at that time, and, as it later turned out, to avoid a probate. Jean Nyberg, step daughter to Hannah, and one of the purchasers under the agreement, was the owner in fee apart from any interest acquired under the contract, of .57 acres on which one of the two homes on the property were located, by virtue of a warranty deed dated January 20, 1939, from Joseph and Hannah Bagnall, (Abstract P. 112.) She was also the owner of an undivided $\frac{1}{2}$ interest in 140.15 acres of the land covered by the real estate agreement. She held that interest as co-tenant with her brother, J. R. Bagnall, by virtue of a warranty deed dated January 30, 1939, by which Joseph F. Bagnall and Hannah Bagnall conveyed to the plaintiff, J. R. Bagnall, and to his sister, Jean B. Nyberg, an undivided one-half interest in the said 140.15 acres. (R.

55, 56) The real estate agreement also provided that Jean had been given a \$32,000 interest out of Hannah's share, leaving a balance of \$80,000 equally divided between the two sellers Hannah and J. R. Bagnall.

The real estate agreement was subsequently assigned to various parties, until it was acquired by Suburbia Land Company of Idaho in July, 1962. At that time, a modification agreement was entered into between J. R. Bagnall and his wife, Florence as the sellers, and Suburbia Land Company as the buyer. The modification agreement incorporated the original September 1, 1952, agreement and made certain modifications therein. Among other changes, the sellers agreed to place a warranty deed conveying good and marketable title, together with all shares of water stock owned by them, in escrow at the Bank of Ephraim. They also agreed to deliver to the defendants an up to date abstract "as soon as possible", and to clear up any defects that may be shown in the title within 18 months from the date of the modification agreement. The defendants herein contend that the sellers were to render a title opinion "as soon as possible" also.

On March 3, 1962, 4 and ½ months prior to the assignment to Suburbia and the execution of the modification agreement, Jean Nyberg, by warranty deed, deeded the aforementioned 140.15 acres and the .57 acres to Utah Valley Land and Development Corporation (R. 72)

The deed purported to convey a fee simple title to all of the land. Mrs. Nyberg held the .57 acres (upon which the main residence was located) in fee, but had only an

undivided one-half interest in the 140.15 acres. The milking barn, tack room, corrals, and the bulk of all other improvements, with the exception of the two residences, were located on the 140.15 acre tract.

On October 5, 1971, Utah Valley Land conveyed those same interests, by warranty deed, to United Paint and Colors Company, one of the defendants named in plaintiffs' amended, amended complaint. An order of Summary Judgment and Decree of Quiet Title was granted in favor of United Paint & Colors Company on March 26, 1974, by the above entitled court, thereby effectively depriving the defendants of a $\frac{1}{2}$ interest in the central part of the ranch containing 70% of the improvements. The matter of the .57 acres has not yet been litigated.

One of the major concerns of Suburbia as buyer was the ability of the sellers to deliver an unclouded title. The sellers agreed to take upon themselves the burden of preparing an abstract and clearing any defects in the title. It was the contention of the buyers that sellers were to render the title opinion also. That contention was disputed by the plaintiffs at the trial. In any event, the Modification Agreement (which consisted of the Agreement dated July 16, 1962, in conjunction with a letter from seller to buyer dated July 18, 1962), (Exhibits P. 5 and P. 6), provided that the sellers were to complete their obligations within 18 months. The abstract was not completed until sometime in 1965, according to testimony elicited from the plaintiffs and their former attorney, and was never delivered to the defendants.

Plaintiffs took no action to clear any defects, maintaining that they had an unclouded title, even to the 140.15 and the .57 acres, and that it was fully marketable and complied with their obligations under the Real Estate Agreement and the Modification Agreement. Throughout much of 1962 and through 1965, at least, Mr. Maxfield made constant and repeated efforts to obtain the abstract from the plaintiffs or their attorney, Don V. Tibbs. Beginning in 1963, and continuing throughout 1965, Mr. Maxfield advised the plaintiffs of numerous title deficiencies. He advised them of claims made by third parties to the 140.15 acres which Jean Nyberg had deeded away. (Defendants were not then aware of the problem with the .57 acres). He advised them of claims made by a Mr. Don Powell to a 63 acre tract and to a 76.94 acres tract, and so forth. It was undisputed that Maxfield obtained deeds from Mr. Powell, that he deeded the property therein to the Bagnalls, and that they, in turn deeded it back to Suburbia of Nevada (one of the successor corporations). There was dispute at the trial as to the reasons therefore, and the effect thereof. Defendants maintained that it was to clear up some of the title defects and that plaintiffs agreed to a moratorium on payments until December, 1971. Plaintiffs disagreed with that contention, denying that there had been any moratorium.

During much of this time, and especially beginning in 1964, the defendants were not making all of their payments. It was their contention that many of those payments were missed with the approval of the plaintiffs because of their failure to obtain the abstract and to clear

up the title defects. Also, the *plaintiffs* were in default. As stated, they did not obtain the abstract until 1965. They did not deliver it to the defendants. They did not render a title opinion. They did not have all of the water stock in the escrow as agreed until 1973! Joseph Albert Bagnall, son of the plaintiff, is the owner of record of approximately 5.56 acres of the ground. The Denver and Rio Grande Western Railway is the owner in fee simple of a strip 1 chain by 40 chains along the eastern boundary and has an easement containing along the balance of the eastern boundary of the ranch, all taking about 3 acres. There is a county road running through the middle of the ranch not mentioned in the contract or the warranty deed consuming 2 acres. Defendants allege a private easement consuming about one acre also runs through the ranch and is not mentioned in any of the conveyances or agreements.

On April 25, 1962, suit was commenced to forfeit the agreement and a *lis pendens* was recorded. That *lis pendens* has not been removed of record and constitutes a cloud on the title. On February 18, 1970, plaintiff entered into an oil and gas lease to Phillips Petroleum which included all of the property contemplated in the Real Estate Agreement (which even included the property belonging to J. A. Bagnall and 17.54 acres of land which the buyers had purchased outright at the time of the signing of the modification agreement in 1962), wherein they purported to lease all of the oil and gas rights to the property, as well as all of the water rights with the exception of well waters. This, of course, constituted a deliberate cloud upon the title, even though Phillips probably could not prevail in a suit with the buyers.

During the latter part of June, 1969, it became apparent to Reed R. Maxfield, then president of Suburbia Land Company, of Utah, that the plaintiff could not comply with their agreement and were about to attempt forfeiture of the contract. On July 5, 1969, Mr. Maxfield, acting on behalf of Suburbia, made a written tender to plaintiff, J. R. Bagnall, of "any and all amounts that are due . . . under the terms of . . . (the) real estate contract." As part of that tender, Suburbia asked the plaintiffs to tell them how much was due. There were no restrictions or conditions attached to the tender. Plaintiffs rejected the tender and asked, instead, not for the delinquencies due under the contract, but demanded, the full accelerated balance due in two separate letters. There was no provision in the contract for an acceleration. Defendants again tendered, in writing, payment of the delinquencies, without acceleration, and asked the plaintiffs to set forth the amount. That tender was never accepted by the plaintiffs either.

Within a few days of the July 5 tender, Mr. and Mrs. Bagnall went to the Maxfield's house on the ranch at Chester. They testified that they came to accept the tender (a position wholly contrary to their stipulation that they never accepted the tender), while the defendants testified that they were told by the Bagnalls at that time that they did not want the money, they were determined to take the ranch back.

On July 31, 1970, a notice of default was served upon Reed R. Maxfield, demanding the whole of the accelerated balance due under the agreement, together with interest and penalties in an unspecified amount, and

taxes. Lester Romero, then president of Suburbia of Utah, the only surviving corporation, was advised of the notice and contacted plaintiffs attorney, Merlin O. Baker, and once again tendered payment in writing of all amounts actually due on the contract and asked the plaintiffs to specify the amount due. The trial court ruled this tender to be timely and within the time allotted by the plaintiffs in their notice of forfeiture. The notice of forfeiture was obviously in error, having asked for the accelerated balance (\$48,535.70 plus taxes and interest) contrary to the provisions of the contract. There were various letters back and forth thereafter, Suburbia each time tendering payment of the delinquencies. Plaintiffs refused to acknowledge that Suburbia of Utah, or Lester Romero, had anything to do with the agreement and proceeded with suit against the Idaho corporation filed about November 4, 1970. It was not until October, 1971, that the Nevada and Utah corporations, together with Lester R. Romero were joined as defendants.

Then on August 19, 1971, the plaintiffs completely reversed themselves, repudiated the contract, (and, defendants believe, waived their notice of default) by mailing a Notice to Quit to the defendants Maxfield, advising them that the Modification Agreement was void and that they were considered tenants at will and giving them five days to quit the premises.

On December 1, 1971, defendants delivered to the escrow, the Bank of Ephraim, a regular monthly payment for \$400.00, which sum the bank accepted, receipted, and posted to interest on December 1, 1971. It should be noted that the plaintiffs had never notified the escrow

of their notice of forfeiture. It is the defendants' position that the acceptance of this payment, after notice of default effectively waived the default and the contract must be re-instated, if, indeed, it was ever in doubt.

After many motions and countermotions. After long and involved pre-trial hearings, and after much pain and suffering on both sides, the trial herein commenced in the Sanpete County Courthouse on April 22, 1974, before the Honorable Maurice Harding, Judge pro-tem. It is from the results of that trial that defendants take this appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PLAINTIFFS ARE IN DEFAULT UNDER THE TERMS OF THE MODIFICATION AGREEMENT AND MUST CORRECT THEIR OWN DEFAULTS BEFORE THEY CAN DEFAULT THE DEFENDANTS

FAILURE TO ACQUIRE AND MAINTAIN MARKETABLE TITLE. The testimony and evidence produced by the defendants at the trial that plaintiffs did not have title to all of the land, and could not convey according to the tenor of the Modification Agreement, and the Warranty Deed, stands uncontroverted. The testimony of Jackson Wanless (T-354) shows that the railroad right of way encroaches 33 feet along the entire east side of the ranch taking three acres (T-353); that a minimum of two acres is taken up by county roads (T-356), and one acre is consumed by a private easement. Whether the private easement exists was subject to some dispute. The other matters are uncontroverted. A reading of the Real Estate Agreement (Ex-

hibit P-4), the Modification Agreement and the letter of July 18 (Exhibits P-5 & 6), and the Warranty Deed placed into the escrow (Exhibit P-7) reveal that nothing was said about the railroad, the county roads, or the private easement.

The Modification Agreement provided as follows:

“The Sellers agree to place a Warranty Deed conveying good and marketable title to the premises as described in said Agreement, together with all shares of water stock owned by them in Escrow at the Bank of Ephraim, Utah.”

They placed the warranty deed in the escrow, but there was no mention in either the deed or the modification agreement of the railroad, the county road, or the private easement. In addition, and even more importantly, there was no mention of an undivided $\frac{1}{2}$ interest in 140.15 acres of the land contemplated by the agreement which plaintiffs could not convey. As heretofore stated in the statement of facts, Jean B. Nyberg, one of the purchasers under the terms of the September 1, 1952, agreement, had, apart from any interest under the agreement, an undivided $\frac{1}{2}$ interest in 140.15 acres contained in the agreement. This 140.15 acres contains virtually all of the improvements on the ranch, with the exception of the two homes. (See testimony of Reed Maxfield, T-325, & Exhibit D-38). On March 3, 1962, prior to the assignment of the contract to defendants, Mrs. Nyberg, by warranty deed, conveyed the same 140.15 acres to Utah Valley Land and Development Corporation. Utah Valley subsequently conveyed by warranty deed to United Paint and Colors, a Utah corporation. The trial court ruled that this constituted a defect upon the title, that plaintiffs had not cleared the

defect prior to the notice of default, and that the defendants were entitled to damages therefore. (Pre-trial order, pages 6 and 7, paragraph 12, R-....). Furthermore, the trial court granted a summary judgment quieting title to an undivided $\frac{1}{2}$ interest thereto in United Paint and Colors, effectively depriving both the vendors and the purchasers of any interest therein.

In February, 1970, prior to service of the notice of default, plaintiffs leased the oil and gas and water rights to the property. The trial court ruled this a defect for which defendants were entitled to damages.

J. R. Bagnall testified that he had a son named Joseph A. Bagnall (T-7), and that he (J. R. Bagnall) had never used that name. He was then shown Exhibit D-22, a warranty deed wherein plaintiffs, J. R. Bagnall and Florence Bagnall deeded the ranch property to themselves as tenants in common. The deed, however, recites that Joseph R. Bagnall is also known as J. A. Bagnall, and the said J. A. Bagnall purports to be a grantor. On page 9 of the transcript, Mr. Bagnall admits that "possibly Joseph should have signed this too. I don't know. I have never used the name Joseph A. Bagnall. That is sacred to my son." On page 14, reading from the deposition of J. R. Bagnall, the following colloquy took place concerning the interest of Joseph Albert Bagnall in the property, and the reason for the deed:

"A Answer: 'He had interest in approximately two acres or two point something acres, and in order to make this so that we could make a clear transaction — if this was ever completed, that he deeded that to myself so that to clear the title so that we could furnish clear title to —' "

“Q Then the question: ‘To whom?’

“A ‘To whom?’ Answer: ‘To whoever paid for this contract, if and when this was ever paid for. That was part of clearing up the —’ Then I should have said titles.”

On page 34 of volume 105 of the abstract (Exhibit P-8), we find a deed from Mary Ellen Allred aka Mary Ellen Acord to Joseph A. Bagnall, deeding three small pieces of property located in the Moroni Meadows (a part of the ranch) containing a total of 2.5 acres. This is undoubtedly the property referred to by plaintiff as belonging to his son. The abstract shows that even today, the said property is still in the name of Joseph A. Bagnall, and hence constitutes a defect in the title.

On page 37 of the abstract, under date of December 31, 1952, Frank D. and Faun T. Acord deed to Joseph A. Bagnall three pieces of property located in the Moroni Meadows. The acreage of the first tract is unspecified but clearly contains approximately 3.5 acres. The next two tracts contain 3.44, and 2.06 acres respectively. J. A. Bagnall subsequently conveyed the 3.44 acre tract to the plaintiffs, but the remaining two tracts containing approximately 5.56 acres remain in the name of J. A. Bagnall, constituting a defect in plaintiffs’ title.

On page 183 the abstract contains a notice of lis pendens dated April 25, 1962, stating that an action had been commenced in the Sanpete County Court by J. R. Bagnall and Florence Bagnall, against Wallace J. Nyberg, Jean B. Nyberg, Darwin Nyberg, Glenna A. Nyberg, Donald W. Denton, Edwin N. Mortinson, Mr. and Mrs. Guy Redmond, Virgil Redmond, and Waldo Harris as defendants for the purpose of terminating the 1952

real estate agreement and recovering possession of the lands covered thereby. That lis pendens has never been released.

Parcel number 11 as described in the real estate agreement (Exhibit P-4) is owned of record by Caroline M. Hansen, Eva Josephen Hansen, and Mark Sharp Hansen. There is no conveyance of record by which the plaintiffs obtained title to that 1.5 acres.

Thirty-three feet of the entire eastern boundary of the property is subject to the rights granted under a "Right of Way Warranty Deed" from Lars R. Christensen et. ux., to SanPete Valley Railway Company dated July 11, 1896. This same "easement" was discussed above, but it appears that rather than merely an easement, a fee simple interest was conveyed by the deed, together with the right of the railway to encroach upon the adjoining lands for the purpose of building and constructing a roadbed and railway. The assets of SanPete Valley Railway Company were subsequently acquired by the Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad.

All of these defects in the title are substantial and material. There appears to be no way in which plaintiffs can acquire clear title thereto. Even if they can, it is their obligation to do so, and until they have done so, defendants are not obligated, under pain of default, to continue making their payments, at least not until a determination has been made of the damages suffered by the defendants.

In the case of *MacLeodd vs. Hamilton*, 236 N.W. 912 (Mich. 1931), the plaintiff vendor attempted to foreclose a land contract for default in the payment of installment payments and taxes. The buyer defended on

the ground (among others) that the seller did not have clear title by virtue of an easement for a drain granted to the county in 1876. The court dismissed the complaint and held that, even though the easement had, in all probability, been abandoned by the county and constituted an easily removable cloud on the title, the seller must clear the defect from the record *before* he could default the vendee, and *before* he could bring suit or foreclosure. The Court said:

“The mere record of the outstanding easement is sufficient to command assurances to defendant against the contingencies of a lawsuit. *Platt vs. Newman*, 71 Mich. 112, 38 N.W. 720. The easement is undoubtedly moribund, and under the evidence constitutes no justification for rescission by defendant, *but does require plaintiff, before exacting performance by defendant, to be in a position to tender a marketable title. The plaintiff can remove the cloud, now of record, and file a new bill to foreclose.*”

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