2001

Joseph R. Bagnall, and Florence Bagnall v. Suburbia Land Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

RESPONDENTS WERE NEVER IN DEFAULT UNDER THE TERMS OF THE MODIFICATION AGREEMENT.

Contrary to the assertions of the appellants, the question of marketable title was never a point of issue since Maxfield represented to Mr. Tibbs and to the sellers that he had acquired all of the balance of the outstanding interest of the parties. (Tr. 3, 23, 24, 27, 30, 31) Relying on his own assertions, the modification agreement of July 15, 1962 was made. To blatantly state that there was an outstanding title in the name of Mrs. Nyberg acquired by Utah Land & Development Company and, subsequently acquired by Utah Paint and Colors Company, a Utah corporation, requires appellants to ignore the testimony of Mr. and Mrs. Bagnall and Mr. Tibbs. (Tr. 69, 72, 74, 79, 81, 119) It further requires this court to ignore what the trial court and the jury obviously believed, to-wit, that Maxfield controlled Utah Valley Land & Development Corporation and that Maxfield, in fact, had acquired the interest of Jane B. Nyberg and Utah Valley Land & Development Corporation and that such interest (United Paint & Colors Company) was conveyed out by Maxfield purposely in order to create a flaw in the title justifying his failure to make payment under the contract as required.

At no time did Maxfield advise Bagnalls of this alleged title flaw until the action was commenced and even then, it was not until October 20, 1971, that United Paint and Colors Company, a Utah corporation, acquired title to this outstanding interest.

That corporation is controlled by Maxfield's mother, father and

brother. The jury and the court found Maxfield's position untenable and properly concluded that if there were a flaw in the title, it was at the instance of Maxfield and the appellants. (Special Verdict 4, 13, 14, 15; Finding of Fact 23)

There is no adequate record before the court upon which the facts related herein can be completely documented; however, it must be sufficient to state that if the entire record had been brought up, the respondents could clearly sustain their position in the record.

The appellants seem to take comfort out of the preliminary conclusions of the court contained in the pretrial order (see Pretrial Order, pps. 6, 7) related to this alleged defect in the title. The court stated in open court when reviewing the matter and rendering its judgment that the pretrial order was made without sufficient information, and when there was contrary believable evidence before the court, the court was obligated to correct the pretrial finding and, therefore, the pretrial order could not stand opposed to the proof of fact. (see entire Findings of Fact; Decree; and Record) It would have been error for the court to have ruled otherwise than it did in Findings of Fact Nos. 14, 15, 16, 17, and 18.

In respect to the oil and gas lease of Phillips Petroleum Company, the plaintiffs-respondents had a perfect right to lease the oil, gas, and water rights to the property. (Bagnalls, Exhibits 34 and 35) The entire lease was contingent upon this litigation and Phillips was willing to assume the risk of the right of the respondents to lease, knowing full well the pending litigation and the claimed rights of Maxfield and his friends. (Bagnalls - Direct)

the buyer, they retained the fee right to 1/2 of the oil, gas and minerals. (Bagnalls - Direct; Exhibits 3, 35)

Whether the sellers were in default under the terms of the modification agreement of 1962 is a factual question. It is respondents' contention that there was sufficient evidence in the total record, if it were before the appellate court, to support such a finding. Respondents, therefore, cite no case authority because Point I is a factual issue which the court correctly decided and the record would so demonstrate if it were brought before this court in its entirety.

POINT II

THE APPELLANTS NEVER MADE A VALID OR TIMELY TENDER TO THE RESPONDENTS FOR THE DELINQUENCIES DUE UNDER THE CONTRACT.

This point is like the first point. The appellants assume there are no facts contrary to that which they assert. The fact is that the evidence of tender by appellants was so shallow and frivolous as to cause the court and jury to question the good faith of the appellants in making such an argument. It would seem apparent from the argument made by the appellants that his, its or their tender depending on who it happens to be at the time, was not made in good faith. Even though the exact amounts owing were within Maxfield's knowledge, (Tr. 5, 16, 17, 34, 95, 131, 132) he continually wrote letters offering to pay "any and all amounts due" to the sellers. The language in the tenders of Maxfield, Suburbia, Mrs. Maxfield and Romero are all identical and were all written on the same typewriter, obviously by Reed Maxfield. (Maxfield - Cross; Mrs. Maxfield - Cross) I

It was apparent that Maxfield was playing coy with the sellers for the respondents proved conclusively that none of the

parties, Suburbia, Maxfield or Romero, were able at any time to make payment of the delinquent amount owing to the sellers. The record is replete with evidence of financial inabilities such as the inability to pay income tax, the inability to pay franchise tax, the revocation of charters, the delinquency in water assessments, the delinquency in payment of property taxes, the unsuccessful attempts to borrow money, (Tr. 300) all during the period of time in which appellants contend they were making tenders. During this time, Bagnalls, in order to prevent tax sale of their property, were required to make the payment of taxes owing against the property and water. (Bagnalls - Direct; Tibbs; Exhibit 9) None of these facts are contained in the record brought up by appellants.

Appellants further fail to tell the court that when the plaintiffs attempted to accept the tenders the defendants offered them cemetery lots (Tr. 106, 165) in Las Vegas, Nevada, or coupon books for frozen foods in some food distribution program, (Tr. 165) but never money. The Bagnalls had no confidence in Maxfield (Tr. 38) after his repeated and persistent delinquencies. (Tr. 85) At no time from 1969 to 1974 did the defendants, in fact, offer the plaintiffs money to bring up the delinquencies. (Bagnalls - Direct; Maxfield - Cross) On the contrary, Mr. and Mrs. Bagnall testified that in July, 1969, they went to see Maxfield at the ranch. At this time they noted the deplorable condition of their ranch. (Tr. 37,38) They plead with Mr. Maxfield to bring the delinquencies up because they had payments of their own to meet. Mr. Maxfield, contrary to his assertion that he always had funds, explained to them that he was not going to pay them, that he didn't have any money, and that he had already mortgaged

the property and everything on it to other people. (Tr. 35, 36, 39, 165) He even produced a copy of the mortgage that he had made to LaVera Maxfield, his mother, which he had put on the entire property to cloud the title. (Exhibit 54) This he did even though he did not have a deed to the property. Furthermore, he told Bagnalls that he was skilled in this type of enterprise and that he would make the matter so complicated and so difficult that no lawyer could disentangle and clear the title. (Tr. 39) The substance of his statements to the respondents at that time was that there was nothing that could be done to collect the money from him, that it was his ranch, and that he was not going to pay them any money for it. This comment was made at the same time he contends he was making a tender. (J. R. Bagnall - Direct)

It was this particular tender which Maxfield said in court he could have made because he had \$140,000 in a duffle bag in his closet. The fact that Maxfield did not do business in an orthodox manner was sufficient to cause the jury to believe that he was not entirely a wholesome character. His willingness to prevaricate was sufficient to discredit his entire testimony before the jury. (Bagnalls - Direct; Maxfield - Cross)

During cross-examination he was caught in one lie after another. Maxfield, as a credible witness, was totally impugned. For example, Maxfield, after parading before the jury his vast experience as a corporate officer and director, admitted he did not know a corporation had to do such fundamental things as maintain its charter in good standing. (Tr. 79) It is impossible for the respondents to recite the facts as to Maxfield's credibility because the complete record is not before the court. The most that the respondents can do in this brief is to recite

the facts from memory.

Appellants extensively argue the pretrial order concerning the validity of the tender. The court, in its pretrial order, however, did not pass judgment on whether the tender was made in bad faith as that aspect was specifically reserved for trial.

(See Pretrial Order IV, 6) The appellants tend to ignore the special interrogatories served on the jury which, when read together, conclude that appellants' tenders were unperformable and made in bad faith. The court itself concluded that the tenders made were all in bad faith. (See Finding of Fact 18) It does not serve the appellants well to argue to this court, as fact, that which is contrary to the fact proven and for which there is substantial evidence.

This court has repeatedly said that the statement of facts and the argument must be on the basis of the facts as they may have been believed by the court and jury. On the basis of evidence presented, it is impossible for the respondents to understand how the court could have ruled otherwise than that the tenders were made in bad faith. Appellants engage in the gymnastics of citing the pretrial order to the effect that their tenders would be satisfactory if made in good faith and then totally ignore all evidence that they were made in bad faith.

It is not sufficient to cite the Utah statutes on a valid tender. Both parties are aware of these statutes. The tender statutes were argued at length and with briefs. The fact remains that the court and jury found, on a question of fact, that the tenders were made in bad faith by persons who were incapable of making tenders, by persons who were not privy to the contract, by persons who had no legal existence and status, and by persons who

did not have practical capability of performing the tenders. Since the facts are totally against the appellants on Point II, it seems futile for respondents to argue the law.

a The appellants belabor the court's Findings of Fact which are amply supported by the special verdict of the jury. It is fundamental that the appellants can not complain of a Finding of Fact which is supported by material and substantial evidence. The difficulty with the appellants' position is that they have failed to bring to this court the entire record, but rather have chosen to be selective in designating only certain portions of the transcript from which they would appeal.

Referring to page 33 of the appellants' brief concerning the testimony of Bruce Watkins, the appellants would have the court believe that there was a commitment by the Clearfield State Bank for \$15,000.00. On cross-examination, Mr. Watkins admitted that the most he had before the bank was an application of many months prior which had not been acted upon for a variety of reasons, (Tr. 30, 52) all the fault of Mr. Maxfield. Peculiarly the application was by Mr. Maxfield for property in Sanpete County. It was for a loan to him personally. He had never complied with all of the terms of the application, such as furnishing a financial statement. Mr. Watkins further testified that it would be improbable for the Clearfield State Bank to make the loan on property in Sanpete County, that if a loan were to be considered it would have to be complete documentation including knowledge of the status of the owner, (Tr. 51) in this case, Suburbia Land Company of either Idaho, Nevada or Utah, depending on the case. (Tr. 59) He further stated that Maxfield had only indicated that he was a stockholder in one of the companies, but he did not know the de-

tails of Mr. Maxfield's ownership, nor did he know the amount of stock outstanding, nor the status of the company, (Tr. 55) all of which he said would have been essential before making a loan. He further stated that any loan application had to be approved by the loan committee because it had never been submitted to the bank in a complete form. He further stated that upon cross-examination, had he known the facts which had been elicited in trial concerning the status of Suburbia Land Company, the status of Maxfield, and the other material items to the loan application which would have been required, the Clearfield Bank under no circumstances would have made the loan. (Tr. 55, 59) To contend to this court that there was a commitment is to mislead this court.

Referring to Mr. Romero's claim of personal assets, the thrift certificates referred to were the most dubious of evidence and were admitted through sheer tolerance of the court. The court recognized the objections to the admissibility of such photostats of certificates of trust issued by Interlake Thrift, noting that there was no proof that Interlake Thrift was a viable company, that the certificates had not been mortgaged, pledged or otherwise encumbered, or that Romero, in fact, could obtain money from the said certificates. (Tr. 364) The court also acknowledged that the best evidence of whether Romero could have gotten money out of those certificates would have been to call someone from Interlake Thrift Company to testify that those certificates were in good standing on the date of the alleged tender.

The appellants cap their conclusion in respect to Point II with this comment:

Such testimony by them [Bagnalls] is unsupported by anything other than their naked word.

This statement causes the respondents to believe that Bagnalls' naked word was like gold compared to the evidentiary lead offered by the appellants.

The Supreme Court of Utah in Hyams v. Bamberger, 10 Utah 3, 36 P. 202 (1894), said that to have the effect of a valid tender, the party making a tender "must have the ability to produce it, and must act in good faith." Although an old case, it is still good law. The weight of the evidence at trial in the instant case overwhelmingly demonstrated appellants inability to produce the delinquent amount after the Bagnalls had made repeated demands.

POINT III

RESPONDENTS NEVER REFUSED TO GIVE AN ACCOUNTING TO THE APPELLANTS, BUT EVEN IF THEY HAD, SUCH REFUSAL WOULD NOT CONSTITUTE A WAIVER OF PERFORMANCE.

It became obvious to the court and jury that in the entire series of tenders by Maxfield for Suburbia, Romero, or himself, he never noted for whom he was making a tender. That the tenders were in bad faith is a conclusion that is inescapable from the manner and conduct of the appellants.

The ranch on which Maxfield was living when the lawsuit was instituted is located less than five miles from Ephraim. The Bagnalls were living in California. At all times when the alleged tenders were made, Maxfield merely had to go to the Bank of Ephraim to determine the balance owing on the contract or to determine the delinquency owing on taxes, water assessments, and principal and interest payments. The bank kept a running account in its escrow ledger of the balance owing and could have calculated for Maxfield, Romero, or Suburbia the deficiencies at any given time. (Tr. 16, 17, 34, 95, 131, 132) Rather than avail himself

of the escrow agreement to which Suburbia was signatory, Maxfield chose to write the very vague proffers of performance.

The assertions of appellants that the respondents had refused payment of the delinquencies and had insisted on the payment of the entire amounts due and owing is contrary to the facts. Both of the Bagnalls testified on direct examination that prior to instituting suit they requested payment of the delinquencies only (Tr. 38, 151) and had, in fact, journeyed to the ranch in July of 1969, to make demand for those deficiencies and hoping to be paid those deficiencies. Instead, they were met by the responses of Maxfield that he was not going to pay them, that he had mortgaged the property, that it was totally encumbered, and that he did not have any money, (Tr. 38, 39, 165) but that the best he could do or would do was give them some cemetery lots (Tr. 38, 165) or some coupon books in a frozen food program. The appellants have refused to recognize or to so advise this court of these facts which were elicited repeatedly. Such testimony would be amply supported in the direct and cross-examination of Judge Tibbs and in the direct examination of Mr. and Mrs. Bagnall. But even if one were not to rely entirely upon the direct examination of Mr. Bagnall, it seems to these respondents that it is difficult for the appellants to escape Mrs. Bagnall's comment on cross-examination by Mr. Lord on page 150 and 151 of the transcript they did send up, to this effect:

Q. You didn't at any time along at that meeting (July 6 to 6, 1969), state that you did not want the property back?

A. No.

Q. You did not at any time state that you did want the property back.

A. We said at the end when we left him, well, if you won't pay us then there is nothing left for us to do but to sue.

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